







# **PCSFN Science Board Report on Youth Sports**

Submitted September 17, 2020

## **Table of Contents**

Acknowledgments	4
Chapter 1. Introduction	5
Purpose of this report	5
Why youth sports matter	5
Chapter 2. Making Youth Sports Accessible	7
Introduction	7
Understand contextual and cultural factors	7
Ensure facilities and equipment are accessible for all	8
Pay attention to gender and sexuality	8
Increase resource-sharing partnerships	9
Conclusion	9
Chapter 3. Optimizing the Youth Sports Experience	10
Introduction	10
Provide a range of sports opportunities for youth of all ages and abilities	10
Focus on fun and youth-driven goals in sports	11
Encourage sport sampling	12
Build a well-rounded set of basic movement skills	12
Prioritize safety	12
Safety checklist for youth sports	13
Establish standards for training adult leaders	14
Conclusion	14

## **Table of Contents**

Chapter 4. Parenting, Coaching, and Mentoring Youth	15
Introduction	15
Treat sports as education	15
Teach inclusivity	16
Focus on balance	16
Reward outcomes that reflect values	17
Conclusion	17
Chapter 5. Fostering Lifelong Participation and Retention in Sports	18
Introduction	18
Allow youth to discover, learn, and play	19
Give youth opportunities to develop and be challenged	19
Provide opportunities for youth to train and compete	20
Offer pathways for youth to excel in high-performance sports and/or to participate and succeed in diverse activities	21
Instill habits that will inspire lifelong participation and foster mentoring	22
Conclusion	22
Chapter 6. Summary	23
Recommendations	23
References	25

Suggested citation: President's Council on Sports, Fitness & Nutrition Science Board. PCSFN Science Board Report on Youth Sports. In: *Proceedings from the 2020 Annual Meeting of the President's Council on Sports, Fitness & Nutrition*. Available at: <a href="https://www.health.gov/our-work/pcsfn/about-pcsfn/science-board">www.health.gov/our-work/pcsfn/about-pcsfn/science-board</a>. September 17, 2020.

### Acknowledgments

# Science Board (a Subcommittee of the President's Council on Sports, Fitness & Nutrition)

- Bradley J. Cardinal, PhD (Chair)
- Nan Hayworth, MD (President's Council on Sports, Fitness & Nutrition Representative)
- Matthew T. Bowers, PhD
- Erin E. Centeio, PhD
- Travis E. Dorsch, PhD
- Cara B. Ebbeling, PhD
- Cynthia LaBella, MD
- Felipe Lobelo, MD, PhD
- Kathryn Lucas, PT, DPT, PhD
- Karin Allor Pfeiffer, PhD
- Matthew J. Robinson, EdD
- Alan L. Smith, PhD
- John O. Spengler, JD, PhD
- Meredith A. Whitley, PhD

# Office of Disease Prevention and Health Promotion

- Kate Olscamp, MPH
- Katrina Piercy, PhD, RD, ACSM-CEP
- Malorie Polster, MPH, CHES
- Laura Pompano, PhD, MS
- Alison Vaux-Bjerke, MPH, MCHES Project Lead

# President's Council on Sports, Fitness & Nutrition

#### Co-Chairs

- Misty May-Treanor
- Mariano Rivera
- Herschel Walker

#### **Members**

- Brenda Becker
- Bill Belichick
- Johnny Damon
- Trevor Drinkwater
- Robert Goldman, MD, PhD, DO
- Natalie Gulbis
- Nan Hayworth, MD
- Matthew Hesse
- Ashlee Lundvall
- lake Olson
- Mehmet Oz, MD
- Shauna Rohbock
- Kyle Snyder
- Julie Teer
- Christopher Tisi
- Master Sqt. Robert Wilkins
- Jim Worthington
- Linda Yaccarino

#### **Executive Director**

Kristina Harder, MPP





## Chapter 1. Introduction

### Purpose of this report

A healthy nation starts with healthy citizens, and participation in sports is one of the most powerful ways to promote healthy habits for a lifetime—not only for physical fitness but also for emotional well-being and social cohesion. The natural enthusiasm that children and adolescents (collectively referred to as "youth") have for physical activity and play creates an ideal opportunity for encouraging sports as an integral part of their development.

In order to increase youth engagement in sports across all communities, particularly those with below-average sports participation and limited access to athletic facilities or recreational areas, the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services developed a comprehensive National Youth Sports Strategy (NYSS).¹ The NYSS provides a variety of opportunities and action items to unite the nation's youth sports culture around a shared vision: that one day all youth will have the opportunity, motivation, and access to play sports, regardless of their race, ethnicity, sex, ability, or ZIP code.

Building on this charge, the Science Board Subcommittee (Science Board) of the President's Council on Sports, Fitness & Nutrition (Council) has developed a report to equip the Council with a deeper scientific understanding of why youth sports matter and how to promote key features of the NYSS. The report is organized around four pillars, all of which are supported by current, interdisciplinary science: (1) making youth sports accessible; (2) optimizing the youth sports experience; (3) parenting, coaching, and mentoring youth; and (4) fostering lifelong participation and retention in sports.

### Why youth sports matter

For youth, defined in the NYSS and in this report as those 6 to 17 years of age, sports participation contributes to healthy personal development, education, community building, and our nation's culture.<sup>2</sup> The distinct societal benefits of sports, given how they capture people's interest and imagination, include connecting people and fostering a sense of shared identity. The absence of sports during the COVID-19 pandemic has been

dispiriting for many, showcasing how important sports are to our national psyche.<sup>3</sup>

Sports can offer youth extensive benefits. In the context of public health, sports can facilitate the cognitive, emotional, physical, and social development of youth. 1,4-6 Physical fitness, physical literacy, and the social skills acquired from participation in youth sports also promote active, healthy living in adulthood. 28 Youth sports, when well constructed, delivered, and supported, can generate a lifelong passion for, and commitment to, sustained physical activity. This, in turn, can contribute to long-term physical and mental wellbeing. 10-12 Physical activity also lowers the risk of developing chronic diseases such as diabetes, heart disease, obesity, and depression in adults.8 With appropriate precautions, the benefits of physical activity can also be realized by youth with chronic medical conditions such as asthma, diabetes, overweight and obesity, and psychiatric disorders. 12-14

For these benefits to be realized by all U.S. youth, sports must be:

- accessible to all;
- organized to meet youths' developmental needs;
- delivered by qualified leaders focused on education and safety; and
- structured to enable broad participation from childhood to adolescence and into adulthood.

This report expands upon these ideas to promote high-quality sports experiences in accordance with the vision of the NYSS and provides scientific evidence to equip the President's Council to implement the NYSS across America.







## Chapter 2. Making Youth Sports Accessible

#### Introduction

Access is the doorway to youth sports. People need places to play and compete, and to feel welcomed and encouraged to participate. Access means more than just physical places, spaces, and equipment; it also encompasses economic, emotional, and social factors—all of which must be supported by appropriate policies and rules. 15–17

The holistic benefits of sports for health<sup>18</sup> and human development<sup>19</sup> should be made widely available within and across communities.<sup>20–22</sup> Participation should not be limited to, or withheld from, anyone. Additional resources may encourage and support the participation of individuals living in lower income communities and individuals who are at risk for overweight and obesity.<sup>23,24</sup>

Ensuring that youth have access requires considering the safety, fun, inclusivity, and developmental appropriateness in all sports and physical activities regardless of income, race and ethnicity, disability, or gender. 25-31

This chapter highlights four strategies aimed at making youth sports accessible. They include: (1) understanding contextual and cultural factors,

(2) ensuring that facilities and equipment are accessible for all, (3) paying attention to gender and sexuality, and (4) increasing resource-sharing partnerships.

# Understand contextual and cultural factors

Understanding each community and the people within it is the basis for making informed decisions about access and opportunities. Contextual and cultural barriers that prevent youth from participating in sports are important to address. Potential barriers differ among communities and may include a lack of:

- safe, reliable, and affordable transportation;<sup>20–22</sup>
- safe, high-quality facilities and recreational areas;<sup>21,32</sup>
- coaches who are skilled and trained in their specific sport(s) and responsible behaviors;<sup>28</sup>
- options for sports and physical activity that are diverse, accessible, appealing, and safe for all youth in the community;<sup>27,33,34</sup>

- adequate funding, so schools or leagues do not need to charge fees;<sup>23,35</sup> and
- media coverage of adaptive sports<sup>36,37</sup> and girls' and women's sports.<sup>38</sup>

Removing barriers such as these within communities would likely improve the odds that youth sports programs are both accessible and sustainable for all.

# Ensure facilities and equipment are accessible for all

One in five Americans lives with a disability, which can affect access to sports. Access to sports facilities and programs promotes longevity, improves quality of life, and reduces health care costs for individuals living with a disability. And The NYSS encourages the design and planning of facilities and activities such that equipment, play spaces, and transportation options safely accommodate youth of all ages and abilities.

Accessible facilities and spaces should be available in community and educational settings. 42–44
Planning and construction can take into account accommodating people of all abilities. 40.42,45 This

advanced planning can help prevent people from feeling neglected and unwelcomed<sup>46</sup> and is often more financially prudent in the long run.<sup>43</sup>

An additional concern in planning for accessibility is how to handle emergencies and disasters. At different times, sports facilities and structures may lose their accessibility features (e.g., weather events, pandemics). This may introduce unforeseen barriers to accessing youth sports facilities or programming for those



with disabilities. 47-49 Emergency preparedness planning that includes contingencies for accessibility can help ensure all youth have the ability to participate.

### Pay attention to gender and sexuality

Barriers relating to gender and sexuality can prevent youth from consistently being active. Safety and inclusion can be enhanced by training coaches and by engaging and empowering stakeholders—including the youth themselves. 30,50-53

Gender issues have historically been, and remain, a distinct challenge in the world of sports. Girls are less likely to participate in sports than boys. One way to address this is to make sure that physical activity and sports opportunities are available and relevant for all. Strategies to support and promote girls' sports participation include: Title IX policy enforcement, paying attention to the manner in which girls' and women's sports are portrayed, and increasing the number of female youth sports coaches. Inviting women to serve as youth sports coaches, holding coaching clinics specifically for women, and developing co-coaching opportunities could all be used to address this need.

Those who identify as LGBTQ+ have unique concerns and lower participation rates in sports. 58.59 Concerns include: policies that are trans-exclusive, sex-segregated sports teams, and personal privacy



and safety issues (e.g., bullying, harassment). 51,60 Existing anti-discrimination policies can be examined and enforced to remove any barriers to participation. 59 Additional policies and practices aimed at maximizing participation, fostering eligibility and inclusivity, and preventing bias can also be considered to address this.

# Increase resource-sharing partnerships

Increasing access to youth sports opportunities requires resources, including funding and space. Sharing play spaces, such as using school facilities and municipal park spaces for classes and sports leagues, is one way to improve affordability and increase access. These accommodations are often facilitated by shared-use agreements and have contributed to more physically active youth and families in communities. One study found that when school facilities were opened to the public, the number of youth who were physically active was 84 percent higher than in a comparable community with closed schoolyards.

Communication among stakeholders—including community leaders, parents, coaches, administrators, teachers, and the youth themselves—can help identify barriers to and facilitators for sharing resources and spaces. 64 Knowing the barriers and working together to overcome them can help ensure long-term, successful relationships and experiences for all involved. 65

For example, it has been found that in lower income communities, school principals state "fear of liability" as a top reason for keeping kids off school fields and courts after hours. 16

State legislation that helps provide protection from lawsuits and that provides guidance on sharing resources is one approach designed to help young people find places to play in their communities. <sup>66</sup> Usage also increases when sports facilities are located in areas that are safe and accessible via walking, biking, and shared or public transportation. <sup>1</sup>

#### Conclusion

Disparities in access to sports participation due to a variety of physical, emotional, social, and economic challenges can be addressed through multiple strategies. While there are common challenges and concerns across communities (e.g., privacy and safety), each community is also distinct. The aim should be to accommodate all within the community. To achieve this, each locality's context and culture should be understood, facilities and equipment designed with access in mind, policies that promote inclusion developed and enforced, and cooperative and strategic partnerships formed in an effort to maximize resources. These establish the foundation needed for youth to get the most out of their sports experience.







# Chapter 3. Optimizing the Youth Sports Experience

#### Introduction

Whether youth benefit from sports depends largely on how the programs in which they participate are created and delivered. Parents and caregivers (collectively referred to as "parents"), coaches and teachers, health care providers, and others provide the context (i.e., environments, settings, situations) in which youth experience sports. Many of these adults, while well intentioned, may lack the knowledge, preparation, or skills to provide an optimal sports experience for youth. As such, they may turn to their own past experiences (positive or negative) or those of professional athletes to inform their programming. This often leads to sports settings that are developmentally inappropriate.

Youth benefit most when they are having fun in a positive learning environment. Adults sometimes lose sight of this, perhaps dreaming on the child's behalf of a college scholarship, Olympic medal, professional sports contract, or simply winning in the moment. But, when the context of sports includes too much pressure and intensity, the youth who need to grow and thrive can be harmed instead of helped.<sup>67</sup>

The adults leading youth sports, therefore, can benefit from learning which behaviors, environments, settings, and situations are and are not safe, fun, inclusive, developmentally appropriate, and accessible. This may enable them to create and deliver positive youth sports experiences, and to model optimal behaviors for those in their charge.

This chapter highlights six strategies aimed at optimizing the youth sports experience. They include: (1) providing a range of sports opportunities for all ages and abilities; (2) focusing on fun and youth-driven goals; (3) encouraging sport sampling; (4) building a well-rounded set of basic movement skills; (5) prioritizing safety; and (6) establishing standards for training adult leaders.

# Provide a range of sports opportunities for youth of all ages and abilities

To optimize the youth sports experience, a range of opportunities should be offered to encourage participation among youth of all ages and abilities. These include diverse forms of structure (e.g., formal, informal), organization (e.g., individual, team), and competition levels (e.g., introductory, recreational, competitive). 27.68–70 Such choice enables youth to discover what is most fun for them.



It is important to recognize that youth develop at different rates. Those who mature early will develop skills before those who mature late. Those who mature late, however, may become more skilled than those who mature early if they are encouraged to continue participating. Bio-banding (i.e., grouping youth on the basis of their estimated biological maturity rather than their chronological age for competitions or training) has emerged as a potential strategy to keep those who mature late involved.

Whether participating on a sports team or not, all youth should be encouraged to be physically active. This can be challenging at increasingly competitive levels.<sup>27</sup> During roster selection, the emphasis should be on fostering continued physical activity involvement so that youth do not feel eliminated permanently.<sup>73</sup> For those who do not make the team, a few encouraging words can help them understand areas for improvement, and/or they can be redirected toward new activities.<sup>74</sup>

# Focus on fun and youth-driven goals in sports

The stakes for young people have never been higher. As the extrinsic rewards linked to youth sports success have increased (e.g., travel, trophies), the market has responded to support the pursuit of those rewards. To No matter what the long-term goals for youth sports participation may be, having fun—especially during the formative experiences—is the fuel that ignites and maintains long-term commitment.

"Fun" is identified as the number one reason that 9 out of 10 youth play sports. They highlight the enjoyment that comes from feeling welcomed and included, trying their best, benefiting from positive team/coach dynamics, developing competence, and getting playing time. They are understood to meet adult rather than youth needs. Modeling youth sports after adult, professionalized structures can eclipse the fun and play that appeal to youth and keep them involved.

Along with the "adultification" of organized youth sports has come the loss of backyard, "sandlot," and pickup sports.<sup>77</sup> These types of youth-led sports are vital. Balancing sports participation across both organized and unstructured contexts reduces the risk of injury; 78,79 builds stronger connections to the community; 80 creates healthier relationships with sports in general; 80 and contributes to the development of creativity and valuable life skills (e.g., communication, conflict resolution, empathy, leadership). 5.81 While youthled sports may appear less "productive" to adults, participation in sports outside of an adult-led experience provides youth with confidence and skills that they can carry over into organized sports settings.

#### **Encourage sport sampling**

Limiting participation to one physical activity or sport can contribute to boredom, frustration, and quitting. Therefore, youth should be given the opportunity and encouraged to try out a variety of physical activities and sports.<sup>82,83</sup> This is referred to as "sport sampling." Sport sampling enables youth to learn the basics of sport, advance their movement skills in diverse contexts, and form physical activity habits.<sup>84–87</sup>

Exclusive concentration on one sport can also result in physical imbalances and injury. <sup>79,88</sup>
Engaging in a variety of physical activities rather than focusing on one activity helps to avoid this. <sup>1,89–92</sup> Moreover, youth who participate in two or more sports per year report higher levels of exercise, more and better sleep, greater academic-related success, and lower participation in risky behaviors compared to their single-sport counterparts. <sup>93</sup>

# Build a well-rounded set of basic movement skills

Basic movement skills are the foundation for more advanced skills. With time and practice, competence and confidence increase. 94 This is key to youth having fun in sports and staying involved over time. 95–97

These basic movement skills also become a part of one's movement vocabulary, an important part of physical literacy for fitness and health.<sup>98,99</sup>



Physical literacy includes the development of movement concepts (e.g., body awareness, spatial awareness) and diverse types of motor skills (e.g., balancing, catching, falling, jumping, kicking, lifting, skipping, hopping, running, swimming, throwing). Such skills, taught at the appropriate stage of development and in multiple contexts, 100 increase movement competence and



confidence,<sup>101</sup> both of which contribute to a youth's desire to continue engaging in physical activity into adulthood.<sup>87,102,103</sup>

#### Prioritize safety

In spite of their many benefits, sports do have inherent risks. Optimizing the youth sports experience and promoting lifelong retention requires minimizing risks including abuse, burnout, injury, overuse, and stress. To help mitigate risks such as these, parents can encourage sport sampling and participation in diverse activities—including those unrelated to sports. Youth sports program leaders at the team, organizational, and league levels can provide experiences that are guided by best practices in youth sports safety (see next page). These strategies can be shared with athletes, coaches, parents, health care providers, and sports program leaders.

Furthermore, program evaluations can include youth sports-related injury data (e.g., within teams, sports, leagues; a national database). This can help identify risk reduction strategies that are working; areas that need attention; and/or problematic behaviors, practices, or policies. 104

### Safety checklist for youth sports

Athletes, coaches, parents, health care providers, and sports program leaders all play a role in creating safe youth sports opportunities. The following strategies are meant to provide the spectrum of how to help ensure the physical environment, personnel, and culture promote safety and injury prevention.

#### Ensuring a safe physical environment:

- Optimize accessibility and identify and eliminate hazards (e.g., broken equipment, uneven surfaces) in play spaces, gymnasiums, fields, pools, and other venues.
- Offer sports-specific protective equipment that is age appropriate, well maintained, and properly fitted. 89,106,108-110
- Minimize risk for abuse and maltreatment (e.g., not isolating one athlete with one coach).

# Ensuring proper selection and availability of coaches, volunteers, and other personnel:

- Assess educational background and experience; provide professional development and training opportunities (e.g., American Sport Education Program); and verify certification, licensure, and/or registration requirements.<sup>1</sup>
- Perform background checks for all adults interacting with youth.

# Optimizing prevention of and response to physical injury and illness:

- Require pre-participation evaluations of participants to identify conditions that may predispose youth to a higher risk of injury or illness.<sup>112</sup>
- Strive to have certified athletic trainers at practices and competitions to minimize and manage injury and illness.
- Establish venue-specific emergency action plans and rehearse them at regular intervals. 116,117

- Train coaches, officials, medical staff, and volunteers in the following:
  - □ Basic first aid
  - Cardiopulmonary resuscitation (CPR) and automated external defibrillator (AED)
  - □ Recognition and management of emergencies (e.g., heat illness, cardiac arrest, head and neck injury)<sup>116-118</sup>
  - Recognition and reporting of suspected maltreatment or abuse<sup>5,119-122</sup>
  - Recognition and management of, and guidelines for return to play in case of, concussion<sup>123-126</sup>
  - Age-appropriate training loads to minimize the risk of overuse injury<sup>89–92</sup>
  - Nutrition and healthy weight management strategies<sup>127,128</sup>
  - Recognizing and providing resources for disordered eating and promoting body positivity<sup>129,130</sup>
- □ Encourage sport sampling in order to reduce risk of overuse injury. 78,79,88–90,92
- □ Incorporate neuromuscular exercises into training routines to reduce risk of lower extremity injuries. 131,132
- Review injury patterns at regular intervals to identify problem areas and targeted strategies to reduce injury risk (e.g., equipment modifications, rule changes).

#### Optimizing the culture of safety and fitness:

- □ Promote fair play and enforce sports rules. 106-110,133
- Train coaches and parents to model and promote healthy behaviors, eliminate hazing and bullying, fulfill athletes' need for autonomy and connection, and create positive environments that prevent burnout and distress. 5.34,89,119,121,122,134

# Establish standards for training adult leaders

Adult leaders play a crucial role in optimizing the youth sports experience. In light of this, teams, organizations, and communities can create standards for adult leaders—administrators, coaches, officials, and parents—to teach, model, and reinforce appropriate skills and behaviors. To ensure alignment with youth-driven goals and needs, these standards should be developed with input from the youth who participate. A supportive and positive youth sports atmosphere can enhance athletes' self-esteem and self-directed motivation, fortify athletes against performance anxiety, and promote lifelong participation. 140

#### Conclusion

Every American youth can enjoy and benefit from sports when provided with an environment that allows for and encourages the full range of activities, from those that are informal, youth initiated, and youth directed to those that are highly organized and managed formally by adult coaches and supervisors. To ensure success for all youth, adults should maintain an atmosphere of fun and create a positive learning environment. Safety must also be given priority. These actions are crucial to sustaining interest and enthusiasm at all ages and levels. Proper training and preparation of both professionals and volunteers who coach and mentor youth in sports will ensure that the context of sports, no matter the specific activity, fosters holistic health and fitness for a lifetime.







# Chapter 4. Parenting, Coaching, and Mentoring Youth

#### Introduction

Participation in organized sports is often described as a catalyst for positive youth development. It is therefore essential that parents, coaches, and mentors establish and carry out developmentally appropriate sports experiences, and that they engage with athletes and one another constructively. Id2—144

This chapter highlights four strategies that parents, coaches, and mentors can use to enhance experiences, motivation, development, and retention across all sectors of youth sports. They include: (1) treating sports as education; (2) teaching inclusivity; (3) focusing on balance; and (4) rewarding outcomes that reflect the values of the communities, organizations, and families who support youth sports participation.

### Treat sports as education

Humans tend to focus on the "here and now" rather than long-term, incremental change. This can be seen in youth sports where parents, coaches, and mentors sometimes focus only on short-term markers of success, such as playing

time and winning.<sup>145</sup> In recent decades, youth sports have become more competitive, with adult mentors focusing on performance-related tasks rather than developmental outcomes.<sup>146</sup>

Parents, coaches, and mentors can gain a healthy perspective by viewing sports through the lens of education. In both community and school settings, sports provide an opportunity to teach youth about behaviors that will enhance their physical, mental, and emotional health. Learning about topics such as teamwork, resilience, physical activity, nutrition, and sleep can help youth on and off the playing field. 4,14,147-149 Toward this end, parents, coaches, and mentors can benefit from employing current best principles and practices, recognizing the importance of their own influence on youth, and modeling appropriate attitudes and behaviors. Examples include providing healthy food and beverage choices (including water);150 avoiding restrictive play rules and overscheduling; keeping expectations and perceptions of competence realistic; offering encouragement and support; and monitoring eating, physical activity, and sleeping behaviors. 103,151



#### Teach inclusivity

A key lesson of sports is that they should be inclusive. Whether acknowledged or not, stigma, stereotypes, and misguided expectations can negatively influence youth sports and physical activity. 152–154 Underlying biases may be explicit or implicit and may be directed toward youth in subgroups defined by race, ethnicity, socioeconomic status, weight/size, gender identity, sexual orientation, or disability. 50,51,155–160

It is important for parents, coaches, and mentors to recognize that their own conscious and unconscious biases may influence participation (e.g., pushing youth toward certain sports or positions and away from others).  $\frac{161,162}{}$  These biases often focus on current maturation and development; reinforce stereotypes; and fail to account for aptitude, interests, or personal motives. They can falsely shape expectations, drain enthusiasm, and cause youth to drop out of sports and avoid future physical activity. 7.153 To lessen the potential effects of bias and develop physical literacy, it is helpful for youth to have the opportunity to experience a wide range of sports, as well as a wide range of playing positions within a given sport (e.g., infielder and outfielder in baseball or softball). Adults involved in the design and delivery of youth sports experiences are encouraged to be educated in cultural competence, which is defined as "a set of values, behaviors, attitudes, and practices within a system, organization, program, or among individuals,

which enables them to work effectively cross culturally." $^{163}$  This can help them understand their own potential biases and how those biases affect others. $^{164}$ 

#### Focus on balance

Youth and their parents are being asked to dedicate greater amounts of time and money to fewer sports—and at younger ages—than ever before. 146 This trend, referred to as the "youth" sports economy," is fueled by social pressure not to fall behind, youth sports business models that rely on keeping athletes involved year round, and the false notion that more and earlier exposure to a sport speeds development and/or increases the chances of securing a collegiate scholarship or competing at an elite or professional level. 46 On the contrary, early sport specialization has been linked with higher rates of psychological burnout, overuse injuries, and dropout from participation, while failing to increase the likelihood of reaching an elite level in sport. 5.92 In fact, 7 out of 10 Olympians report playing multiple sports in their youth, and nearly all believe this enhanced their development.94

Another counterproductive aspect of the youth

sports economy is overscheduling. Growth, development, and learning occur during periods of rest and recovery. Sleep plays a vital role in this process. 165,166 Year-round and all-consuming sports are especially problematic. 147 Balance and downtime are needed and should be encouraged. 5

Another benefit of multi-sport and multiple-setting participation is that



changing things up throughout the year (e.g., competitive to recreational, formal to informal, supervised to unsupervised) enables physical and psychological rest and recovery, exploration of new interests, and development of new social relationships. Participating in both organized sports and informal pickup sports has been linked to increased creativity and community building. 80.81

#### Reward outcomes that reflect values

As noted in the previous chapter on optimizing the youth sports experience, the most prominent reason youth participate in sports is to have fun. Despite this, "success" in sports is often defined by a narrow set of performance-related outcomes like skill acquisition, competition, and winning. While these are important aspects of the sports experience for youth, they should be balanced with the social benefits of participation. When parents, coaches, and mentors assign value to performance-related outcomes, they socialize others to do the same. 168,169

It is important, therefore, to align adults' goals with the outcomes that youth value and desire. Youth's earliest experiences in sports are most often shaped by parents and novice coaches (who may be parents themselves). To (re-)define success, parents, coaches, and mentors can view sports as an educational context, teach inclusivity, and focus on balance. These efforts help to shape the sports-related values of families, organizations, and communities by placing an emphasis on sustainable enjoyment, health, and fitness for a lifetime.

#### Conclusion

Parents, coaches, and mentors are integral to ensuring that youth experience safe, fun, inclusive, developmentally appropriate, and accessible sports opportunities. Adults can design and carry out youth sports programs that are fun; build competence and confidence; and foster the desire to continue in organized sports, physical activity, and free play from childhood through adulthood.







# Chapter 5. Fostering Lifelong Participation and Retention in Sports

#### Introduction

Retention is a major issue in youth sports. Dropout rates from organized youth sports programs are high: about one-third of participants quit each year, and 70 percent of youth who start in sports programs are no longer playing by the time they reach adolescence. Youth sports program leaders and mentors can help young athletes and their families not only start playing, but also continue playing. Such support for ongoing participation is a crucial gateway to healthy physical activity behaviors that can last into adulthood. 14,172

Many models exist to support the advancement of youth sports participation. The Science Board has framed this section of the report around the American Development Model (ADM) (figure 1), which was developed in 2014 by the United States Olympic and Paralympic Committee. 173 The ADM covers the spectrum of youth sports, from novice to high performance, over a series of five stages. The fifth and final stage, Thrive & Mentor, is especially important, even for individuals who never participated in the earlier stages. In the fifth stage, the ADM

Figure 1. American Development Model



**Source:** United States Olympic and Paralympic Committee, 2014.

seeks to inspire people not only to engage in physical activity themselves but also to serve the next generation as youth sports coaches, mentors, officials, and/or volunteers.

The ADM's five stages outline developmentally appropriate guidance for sports participation. This chapter augments the ADM's recommendations to emphasize strategies for retention of athletes in recreational sports participation and for the development of athletes who want to compete.



While the ADM is structured sequentially, linear advancement from stage to stage is not a requirement. Recreational participation should be encouraged at each stage and throughout the life span. The Science Board underscores that long-term involvement and participation in physical activity are the most important goals.

# Allow youth to discover, learn, and play

In the first stage of the ADM—Discover, Learn & Play—youth are given opportunities to explore, imagine, and create in varied settings and activities. The focus is on giving them a chance to enjoy the activity with their peers, to be a part of a group, and to discover and develop their unique abilities in a welcoming and accepting environment. Positive parental involvement, feelings of competence and recognition, affiliation with peers, and excitement all foster enjoyment and should be promoted. 174

First-stage retention recommendations:

- Focus on fun and motor skills development rather than winning.
- Offer multi-sport programming and encourage sport sampling and free play to

help youth develop higher levels of physical literacy and lower their risk of injury. Vary programs by season and allow participants to start and stop as their availability, interests, and needs change. 175,176

- Educate parents about what to expect as youth develop.
- After teams and activities are established, set participation days that align with the parents' schedules as opposed to the coach's schedule alone.<sup>71</sup>
- Consider including younger coaches who are skilled in the activity to serve as role models.

# Give youth opportunities to develop and be challenged

In the second stage of the ADM—Develop & Challenge—youth are given opportunities to

develop themselves and to experience challenges. Motivation increases when youth see their skills improve, creating a personal sense of accomplishment and potentially earning the respect of others. In this stage, youth take on more responsibility for their own development. Competitive excitement and recognition contribute to enjoyment during this stage and can provide the foundation for coachathlete and parent-athlete interactions with youth. 34,174



Second-stage retention recommendations:

- Help young athletes and their parents understand age-appropriate developmental benchmarks.
- Encourage effort and development over outcomes. Provide age-appropriate and actionable feedback that reinforces improvement over winning. 177,178
- Encourage participation in multiple sports/ activities and cross-training to reduce the risk of injury and burnout and ensure young athletes are active outside of a single club's sports program.<sup>179,180</sup>
- Offer physical education experiences for youth where they can engage in a variety of sports and sport-related activities through models such as Sport Education, Teaching Games for Understanding, and Teaching Personal and Social Responsibility.
- Increase participation by limiting cuts, accommodating youth who mature late, and providing financial assistance to youth who do not otherwise have the means to participate.<sup>184,185</sup>
- Provide social opportunities away from the activity or game itself to strengthen the bonds between team members and their families.

# Provide opportunities for youth to train and compete

In the third stage of the ADM—Train & Compete—youth 13 years of age and older are provided with opportunities to train and compete in the sports they select. During this stage, youth want to succeed in competition, create friendships, and feel they are part of a peer group. Defining and reinforcing healthy, nonjudgmental attitudes about participation and "winning" are crucial, because players who feel successful are more apt to stick with sports. 34,186



Third-stage retention recommendations:

- Recognize that specialization will begin to occur in sports selection, positions (e.g., shortstop), or events (e.g., swim stroke/ distance).
- Offer challenging opportunities for competition that are appropriate for the athlete's skill, level of athletic development, and competitive capabilities; combine with cross-training for balance and health.
- Systematically vary training, allow for rest time, and promote coach—athlete communication to decrease the risk of overuse injuries and burnout.<sup>187</sup>
- Promote sports science concepts such as healthy diet and nutrition, strength and conditioning, and sport psychology to enhance performance both in sports and beyond.
- Promote team-building and leadership skills through socialization, friendships, and awareness of the mental health needs of other team members.<sup>188</sup>
- Create experiences and learning opportunities within and outside of sports in which youth can engage in a range of activities that they enjoy in order to become well rounded, physically literate individuals.<sup>189</sup>



# Offer pathways for youth to excel in high-performance sports and/or to participate and succeed in diverse activities

The fourth stage of the ADM offers two pathways for youth 15 years of age and older: "Excel for High Performance" and "Participate & Succeed." Currently, only about 54 percent of high school students report being on one or more sports teams. 190 The ADM's two pathways provide options for all youth to remain active, regardless of their participation in a formal sports setting.

The "Excel for High Performance" pathway enables youth who are interested and qualified to pursue excellence in high-performance competitions, and to work with others to achieve individual and group success. The "Participate & Succeed" pathway fosters participation and success in diverse athletic activities for youth who prefer to focus on more informal activities and sports. This pathway enables youth to continue enjoying the health and social benefits of sports indefinitely. Both pathways are equally important and are not mutually exclusive. They may even be pursued simultaneously by a single individual athlete who chooses high-level competition in one sport while engaging less competitively in others. This kind of cross-training is recommended, as it can enhance overall health and performance. Alternatively, an athlete may initially choose one pathway and then later switch to the other.

Fourth-stage retention recommendations:

- Create an environment that enables youth to maximize their full competitive potential (Excel for High Performance) and also participate for health and socialization (Participate & Succeed).
- Develop diversified training programs that reduce injury rates and enable athletes to perform maximally for important competitions (Excel for High Performance)<sup>191</sup> and that offer multi-sport opportunities in recreational environments (Participate & Succeed).
- Promote psychological health and sustained engagement by empowering youth to take ownership of the sports experience. Adults should listen to and act on the thoughts, concerns, and ideas generated by young athletes as they relate to performance and participation (Excel for High Performance, Participate & Succeed).
- Promote inclusivity through a sport-forall approach, and challenge athletes to embrace opportunities to have a positive
  - impact on others beyond sports by fostering egalitarian organizational values and ethics (Excel for High Performance, Participate & Succeed).
- Use certified coaches who have the training and experience needed for athletes to achieve competitive excellence (Excel for High Performance).



 Provide infrastructure in the form of facilities, leagues, and officials to ensure safe and organized competitions and access to youth sports opportunities (Participate & Succeed).

# Instill habits that will inspire lifelong participation and foster mentoring

The fifth stage of the ADM—Thrive & Mentor—aims to instill habits that will benefit athletes for life and inspire them to model active living for others. Some may choose to give back to sports through coaching, officiating, and/or mentoring future generations to be the best they can be in sports and to enjoy the process of athletic development.

Fifth-stage retention recommendations:

- Offer opportunities to extend the experiences of youth sports through participation in adult recreation leagues, training opportunities that foster lifelong fitness, and mentoring in families and communities.
- Facilitate networking among alumni of youth sports programs and encourage them to be role models and ambassadors for sports teams, leagues, and organizations.
- Recruit and train past participants of all ages and genders to serve as volunteers or as paid part-time coaches and officials in youth sports.
- Encourage young people to consider careers in coaching or officiating.
- Engage alumni of youth sports programs to put their experiences to work in creating K-12 physical education experiences for youth, emphasizing physical literacy, socialization, and individual and societal well-being.<sup>192,193</sup>

#### Conclusion

The ADM provides a framework to help youth develop fitness and excellence in themselves and others through diverse forms of sports participation experiences, starting from a young age. Retention requires a foundation in motor skills and physical literacy, progresses through multisport participation and cross-training for both competitions and fitness, and culminates in adults' continued participation and active mentoring. Psychological and social health improve when fun and teamwork are emphasized, which helps keep youth engaged and creates positive associations that endure.







## Chapter 6. Summary

As this report demonstrates, taking steps to implement the NYSS will not only improve the youth sports landscape but can also have lasting, positive effects on the health, development, and well-being of youth in the United States. With informed leadership and supportive policies, doing so may also enhance the health of institutions, communities, and economies.<sup>1</sup>

This report emphasizes the scientific basis for and importance of:

- ensuring inclusive access to facilities, programs, and coaching, regardless of ability;
- providing a positive sports experience that ensures enjoyment, physical literacy, sport sampling, and competition based on sound physical and emotional conditioning;
- selecting and training adults to plan, coach, and guide youth sports programs to safely and effectively provide these positive experiences; and

 instilling the skills—both physical and mental—that will enable youth to enjoy the full range of benefits of sports from a young age through adulthood, and to mentor future generations in those same healthy habits.

The recommendations of the NYSS and the Science Board seek to benefit individuals, organizations, and communities, and to inform and improve public policy. Council members have a unique role in amplifying these positive opportunities whenever they speak or write, and as they participate on social media.

#### Recommendations

In summary, everyone has a role to play in improving the youth sports landscape in the United States. This report builds on the opportunities and action items outlined in the NYSS, providing additional scientific support for how to make youth sports accessible; optimize the youth sports experience; support parent, coach, and mentor engagement; and foster lifelong participation and retention in sports.

#### Making Youth Sports Accessible

- Understand contextual and cultural factors.
- Ensure facilities and equipment are accessible for all.
- Pay attention to gender and sexuality.
- Increase resource-sharing partnerships.

#### **Optimizing the Youth Sports Experience**

- Provide a range of sports opportunities for all ages and abilities.
- Focus on fun and youth-driven goals in sports.
- Encourage sport sampling.
- Build a well-rounded set of basic movement skills.
- Prioritize safety.
- Establish standards for training adult leaders.

#### Parenting, Coaching, and Mentoring Youth

- Treat sports as education.
- Teach inclusivity.
- Focus on balance.
- Reward outcomes that reflect values.

# Fostering Lifelong Participation and Retention in Sports

- Allow youth to discover, learn, and play.
- Give youth opportunities to develop and be challenged.
- Provide opportunities for youth to train and compete.
- Offer pathways for youth to excel in highperformance sports and to participate and succeed in diverse activities.
- Instill habits that will inspire lifelong participation and foster mentoring.

With this additional scientific foundation, the Council can better communicate why youth sports matter and how everyone can play a role in working toward the NYSS vision: that one day, all youth will have the opportunity, motivation, and access to play sports, regardless of their race, ethnicity, sex, ability, or ZIP code.



### References

- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. The National Youth Sports Strategy. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services; 2019.
- Anderson-Butcher D. Youth sport as a vehicle for social development. Kinesiol Rev. 2019;8(3):180-187. doi:10.1123/kr.2019-0029
- The Aspen Institute Project Play. Coronavirus & Youth Sports. Accessed July 6, 2020. <a href="https://www.aspenprojectplay.org/coronavirus-and-youth-sports">https://www.aspenprojectplay.org/coronavirus-and-youth-sports</a>
- 4. Eime RM, Young JA, Harvey JT, Charity MJ, Payne WR. A systematic review of the psychological and social benefits of participation in sport for children and adolescents: informing development of a conceptual model of health through sport. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act. 2013;10(1):98. doi:10.1186/1479-5868-10-98
- Logan K, Cuff S, Council on Sports Medicine and Fitness, et al. Organized sports for children, preadolescents, and adolescents. *Pediatrics*. 2019;143(6). doi:10.1542/peds.2019-0997
- Smith AL, Erickson K, Malete L. Advancing youth sport scholarship: selected directions and considerations. Kinesial Rev. 2019;8(3):269-277. doi:10.1123/kr.2019-0046
- Kjønniksen L, Anderssen N, Wold B. Organized youth sport as a predictor of physical activity in adulthood. Scand J Med Sci Sports. 2009;19(5):646-654. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0838.2008.00850
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Physical Activity Guidelines for Americans, 2<sup>nd</sup> edition. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services; 2018.
- Sachs M, Tashman L, Razon S. Performance Excellence: Stories of Success from the Real World of Sport and Exercise Psychology. Rowman & Littlefield Publishers; 2020.
- Bullock GS, Collins GS, Peirce N, Arden NK, Filbay SR. Health-related quality of life and flourishing in current and former recreational and elite cricketers. Health Qual Life Out. 2020;18(1):41. doi:10.1186/s12955-020-01301-7
- 11. Easterlin MC, Chung PJ, Leng M, Dudovitz R. Association of team sports participation with long-term mental health outcomes among individuals exposed to adverse childhood experiences. *JAMA Pediatr.* 2019;173(7):681-688. doi:10.1001/jamapediatrics.2019.1212
- **12.** Janssen I, LeBlanc AG. Systematic review of the health benefits of physical activity and fitness in schoolaged children and youth. *Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act*. 2010;7(1):40. doi:10.1186/1479-5868-7-40
- 13. Dimitri P, Joshi K, Jones N. Moving more: physical activity and its positive effects on long term conditions in children and young people. Arch Dis Child. March 2020;archdischild-2019-318017. doi:10.1136/archdischild-2019-318017
- **14.** Hosker DK, Elkins RM, Potter MP. Promoting mental health and wellness in youth through physical activity, nutrition, and sleep. *Child Adolesc Psychiatr Clin N Am.* 2019;28(2):171-193. doi:10.1016/j.chc.2018.11.010

- **15.** Kanters MA, Bocarro JN, Filardo M, Edwards MB, Mckenzie TL, Floyd MF. Shared use of school facilities with community organizations and afterschool physical activity program participation: a cost-benefit assessment. *J Sch Health*. 2014;84(5):302-309. doi:10.1111/josh.12148
- **16.** Spengler JO, Connaughton DP, Maddock JE. Liability concerns and shared use of school recreational facilities in underserved communities. *Am J Prev Med*. 2011;41(4):415-420. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2011.06.031
- Spengler JO, Ko YJ, Connaughton DP. Scale development: perceived barriers to public use of school recreational facilities. Am J Health Behav. 2012;36(3):311-318. doi:10.5993/AJHB.36.3.3
- **18.** Wolch JR, Byrne J, Newell JP. Urban green space, public health, and environmental justice: the challenge of making cities "just green enough." *Landsc Urban Plan*. 2014;125:234-244. doi:10.1016/j.landurbplan.2014.01.017
- 19. ASCD. Whole School Whole Community Whole Child: A Collaborative Approach to Learning and Health; 2014. Accessed July 1, 2020. http://www.ascd.org/programs/learning-and-health/wscc-model.aspx
- Berk M, Moon McGivern L. Effects of a facilitated fee waiver program on participation in youth sports programs. J Park Recreat Admi. 2016;34(3):99-105. doi:10.18666/jpra-2016-v34-i3-6434
- Casper JM, Bocarro JN, Kanters MA, Floyd MF. "Just let me play!"—understanding constraints that limit adolescent sport participation. J Phys Act Health. 2011;8 Suppl 1. doi:10.1123/jpah.8.s1.s32
- **22.** Maljak K, Garn A, McCaughtry N, et al. Challenges in offering inner-city after-school physical activity clubs. *Am J Health Educ.* 2014;45(5):297-307. doi:10.1080/19325037.2014.934414
- 23. C.S. Mott Children's Hospital. Pay-to-play keeping kids on the sidelines. Univ Michigan Dep Pediatr Commun Dis. 2015;22(6). Accessed July 1, 2020. https://ihpi.umich.edu/news/pay-play-keeping-kids-sidelines
- **24.** Wolch J, Jerrett M, Reynolds K, et al. Childhood obesity and proximity to urban parks and recreational resources: a longitudinal cohort study. *Health Place*. 2011;17(1):207-214. doi:10.1016/j.healthplace.2010.10.001
- 25. Blauwet CA. More than just a game: the public health impact of sport and physical activity for people with disabilities (the 2017 DeLisa lecture). Am J Phys Med Rehab. 2019;98(1):1-6. doi:10.1097/PHM.00000000001063
- **26.** Greenspan SB, Griffith C, Murtagh EF. LGBTQ youths' school athletic experiences: a 40-year content analysis in nine flagship journals. *J LGBT Issues Couns*. 2017;11(3):190-200. doi:10.1080/15538605.2017.1346492
- 27. Massey WV, Whitley MA. The talent paradox: disenchantment, disengagement, and damage through sport. Sociol Sport J. 2020;1(aop):1-11. doi:10.1123/ssj.2019-0159

- 28. Morris JF, Van Raalte JL. Transgender and gender nonconforming athletes: creating safe spaces for all. *J Sport Psychol Action*. 2016;7(2):121-132. doi:10.1080/21520704.2016.1184732
- 29. Petty L, Trussell DE. Experiences of identity development and sexual stigma for lesbian, gay, and bisexual young people in sport: 'Just survive until you can be who you are.' Qual Res Sport Exerc Health. 2018;10(2):176-189. doi:10.1080/2159676X.2017.1393003
- **30.** Tischler A, McCaughtry N. PE is not for me: when boys' masculinities are threatened. *Res Q Exerc Sport*. 2011;82(1):37-48. doi:10.1080/02701367.2011.10599720
- **31.** Oliver KL, Kirk D. Towards an activist approach to research and advocacy for girls and physical education. *Phys Educ Sport Pedagog*. 2016;21(3):313-327. doi:10.1080/17408989.2014.895803
- **32.** Bloemen MAT, Backx FJG, Takken T, et al. Factors associated with physical activity in children and adolescents with a physical disability: a systematic review. Dev Med Child Neurol. 2015;57(2):137-148. doi:10.1111/dmcn.12624
- **33.** Whalen L, McCaughtry N, Garn A, et al. Why innercity high-school students attend after-school physical activity clubs. *Health Educ J.* 2016;75(6):639-651. doi:10.1177/0017896915608885
- **34.** Whitley MA, Massey WV, Wilkison M. A systems theory of development through sport for traumatized and disadvantaged youth. *Psychol Sport Exerc.* 2018;38:116-125. doi:10.1016/j.psychsport.2018.06.004
- **35.** Eyler AA, Piekarz-Porter E, Serrano NH. Pay to play? State laws related to high school sports participation fees. *J Public Health Manag Pract*. 2019;25(3):E27-E35. doi:10.1097/PHH.000000000000813
- **36.** Blauwet C, Willick SE. The paralympic movement: using sports to promote health, disability rights, and social integration for athletes with disabilities. *PM R*. 2012;4(11):851-856. doi:10.1016/j.pmrj.2012.08.015
- Rees L, Robinson P, Shields N. Media portrayal of elite athletes with disability – a systematic review. *Disabil Rehabil*. 2019;41(4):374-381. doi:10.1080/09638288.2017.1397775
- **38.** Cooky C, Lavoi NM. Playing but losing. Contexts. 2012;11(1):42-46. doi:10.1177/1536504212436495
- 39. Courtney-Long EA, Carroll DD, Zhang QC, et al. Prevalence of disability and disability type among adults— United States, 2013. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2015;64(29):777-782. doi:10.15585/mmwr.mm6429a2
- **40.** Diaz R, Miller EK, Kraus E, Fredericson M. Impact of adaptive sports participation on quality of life. *Sports Med Arthrosc.* 2019;27(2):73-82. doi:10.1097/JSA.000000000000242
- 41. Musumeci M, Chidambaram P. Medicaid's role for children with special health care needs: a look at eligibility, services, and spending. Kaiser Family Foundation; 2019. Accessed July 6, 2020. <a href="https://www.kff.org/medicaid/issue-brief/medicaids-role-for-children-with-special-health-care-needs-a-look-at-eligibility-services-and-spending/">https://www.kff.org/medicaid/issue-brief/medicaids-role-for-children-with-special-health-care-needs-a-look-at-eligibility-services-and-spending/</a>
- **42.** Grandisson M, Tétreault S, Freeman AR. Enabling integration in sports for adolescents with intellectual disabilities. *J Appl Res Intellect Disabil*. 2012;25(3):217-230. doi:10.1111/j.1468-3148.2011.00658

- 43. Green L. Disabilities law and reasonable accommodations in sports. National Federation of State High School Associations. Published March 10, 2016. Accessed July 1, 2020. <a href="https://www.nfhs.org/articles/disabilities-law-and-reasonable-accommodations-in-sports/">https://www.nfhs.org/articles/disabilities-law-and-reasonable-accommodations-in-sports/</a>
- **44.** U.S. Department of Education Office for Civil Rights. 2013. Accessed July 6, 2020. <a href="https://www2.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ocr/letters/colleague-201301-504.pdf">https://www2.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ocr/letters/colleague-201301-504.pdf</a>
- **45.** Labbé D, Miller WC, Ng R. Participating more, participating better: health benefits of adaptive leisure for people with disabilities. *Disabil Health J.* 2019;12(2):287-295. doi:10.1016/j.dhjo.2018.11.007
- 46. Martin Ginis KA, Ma JK, Latimer-Cheung AE, Rimmer JH. A systematic review of review articles addressing factors related to physical activity participation among children and adults with physical disabilities. *Health Psychol Rev*. 2016;10(4):478-494. doi:10.1080/17437199.2016.1198240
- **47.** Campbell VA, Gilyard JA, Sinclair L, Sternberg T, Kailes JI. Preparing for and responding to pandemic influenza: implications for people with disabilities. *Am J Public Health*. 2009;99(suppl. 2):S294. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2009.162677
- **48.** Peek L, Stough LM. Children with disabilities in the context of disaster: a social vulnerability perspective. *Child Dev.* 2010;81(4):1260-1270. doi:10.1111/j.1467-8624.2010.01466
- **49.** Pineda VS, Corburn J. Disability, urban health equity, and the coronavirus pandemic: promoting cities for all. *J Urban Health*. 2020;97(3):336. doi:10.1007/s11524-020-00437-7
- **50.** Greenspan SB, Griffith C, Hayes CR, Murtagh EF. LGBTQ+ and ally youths' school athletics perspectives: a mixed-method analysis. *J LGBT Youth*. 2019;16(4):403-434. doi:10.1080/19361653.2019.1595988
- **51.** Greenspan SB, Griffith C, Watson RJ. LGBTQ+ youth's experiences and engagement in physical activity: a comprehensive content analysis. *Adolesc Res Rev.* 2019;4(2):169-185. doi:10.1007/s40894-019-00110-4
- **52.** Massey WV, Whitley MA, Blom L, Gerstein LH. Sport for development and peace: a systems theory perspective on promoting sustainable change. *Int J Sport Manage Mark*. 2015;16(1-2):18-35. doi:10.1504/IJSMM.2015.074921
- 53. Shiver VN, Richards KAR, Hemphill MA. Preservice teachers' learning to implement culturally relevant physical education with the teaching personal and social responsibility model. Phys Educ Sport Pedagog. 2020;25(3):303-315. doi:10.1080/17408989.2020.1741537
- 54. Kann L, McManus T, Harris WA, et al. Youth Risk Behavior Surveillance—United States, 2017. MMWR Surveill Summ. 2018;67(8):1-114. doi:10.15585/mmwr.ss6708a1
- **55.** McGovern J, Drewson SR, Hope A, Konopack JF. Gender differences in a youth physical activity intervention: movement levels and children's perceptions. *Am J Health Educ*. 2020;51(2):109-119. doi:10.1080/19325037.2020.1712667
- 56. Kane MJ, LaVoi NM, Fink JS. Exploring elite female athletes' interpretations of sport media images. Commun Sport. 2013;1(3):269-298. doi:10.1177/2167479512473585
- **57.** Leberman SI, LaVoi NM. Juggling balls and roles, working mother-coaches in youth sport: beyond the dualistic workermother identity. *J Sport Manage*. 2011;25(5):474-488. doi:10.1123/jsm.25.5.474

- Skinner-Thompson S, Turner I. Title IX's protections for transgender student athletes. Wis J L Gend Soc. January 2013. Accessed August 4, 2020. https://scholar.law.colorado.edu/articles/739
- 59. Smith T. Not throwing in the towel: challenging exclusive interscholastic transgender athletic policies under Title IX. Jeffrey S Moorad Sports L J. 2017;24(2). Accessed August 4, 2020. <a href="https://digitalcommons.law.villanova.edu/mslj/vol24/iss2/5">https://digitalcommons.law.villanova.edu/mslj/vol24/iss2/5</a>
- **60.** Kulick A, Wernick LJ, Espinoza MA V., Newman TJ, Dessel AB. Three strikes and you're out: culture, facilities, and participation among LGBTQ youth in sports. *Sport Educ Soc.* 2019;24(9):939-953. doi:10.1080/13573322.2018.1532406
- **61.** Durant N, Harris SK, Doyle S, et al. Relation of school environment and policy to adolescent physical activity. *J Sch Health*. 2009;79(4):153-159. doi:10.1111/j.1746-1561.2008.00384
- **62.** Farley TA, Meriwether RA, Baker ET, Watkins LT, Johnson CC, Webber LS. Safe play spaces to promote physical activity in inner-city children: results from a pilot study of an environmental intervention. *Am J Public Health*. 2007;97(9):1625-1631. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2006.092692
- **63.** Omura JD, Carlson SA, Paul P, Sliwa S, Onufrak SJ, Fulton JE. Shared use agreements between municipalities and public schools in the United States, 2014. *Prev Med (Baltim)*. 2017;95:S53-S59. doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2016.09.026
- **64.** Holt NL, Camiré M, Tamminen KA, et al. PYDSportNET: a knowledge translation project bridging gaps between research and practice in youth sport. *J Sport Psychol Action*. 2018;9(2):132-146. doi:10.1080/21520704.2017.1388893
- **65.** Luguetti C, Oliver KL, Kirk D, Dantas L. Exploring an activist approach of working with boys from socially vulnerable backgrounds in a sport context. *Sport Educ Soc.* 2017;22(4):493-510. doi:10.1080/13573322.2015.1054274
- **66.** Spengler JO, Frost NF, Connaughton DP, Prince JD. Clarifying liability for after-hours community use of school recreational facilities. *Ann Health Law.* 2013;(22):342-352. Accessed August 4, 2020. <a href="https://activelivingresearch.org/clarifying-liability-after-hours-community-use-school-recreational-facilities">https://activelivingresearch.org/clarifying-liability-after-hours-community-use-school-recreational-facilities</a>
- **67.** Dunn CR, Dorsch TE, King MQ, Rothlisberger KJ. The impact of family financial investment on perceived parent pressure and child enjoyment and commitment in organized youth sport. *Fam Relat*. 2016;65(2):287-299. doi:10.1111/fare.12193
- **68.** Côté J, Hancock DJ. Evidence-based policies for youth sport programmes. *Int J Sport Policy*. 2016;8(1):51-65. doi:10.1080/19406940.2014.919338
- **69.** Myer GD, Jayanthi N, DiFiori JP, et al. Sports specialization, part II: alternative solutions to early sport specialization in youth athletes. *Sports Health*. 2016;8(1):65-73. doi:10.1177/1941738115614811
- 70. Robertson M, Hague C, Evans MB, Martin LJ. Do participant reporting practices in youth sport research adequately represent the diversity of sport contexts? Psychol Sport Exerc. 2019;45:101559. doi:10.1016/j.psychsport.2019.101559

- 71. Pantuosco-Hensch L. Six ways coaches can promote longterm athletic development. Coach & AD. 2020. Accessed August 4, 2020. <a href="https://coachad.com/articles/six-ways-coaches-can-promote-long-term-athletic-development/">https://coachad.com/articles/six-ways-coaches-can-promote-long-term-athletic-development/</a>
- **72.** Malina RM, Cumming SP, Rogol AD, et al. Bio-banding in youth sports: background, concept, and application. *Sport Med.* 2019;49(11):1671-1685. doi:10.1007/s40279-019-01166-x
- **73.** Gleddie DL, Sulz LD, Humbert ML, Zajdel AP. If you must cut athletes from school sports teams, consider best practices. *J Phys Educ Recreat Danc*. 2019;90(2):24-30. doi:10.1080/07303084.2018.1546630
- Cardinal BJ, Yan Z, Cardinal MK. Negative experiences in physical education and sport: how much do they affect physical activity participation later in life? J Phys Educ Recreat Danc. 2013;84(3):49-53. doi:10.1080/07303084.2013.767736
- 75. Bowers M, Ozyurtcu T. Reducing bias to shift demand: a model for reforming youth sports in America. Sport Entertain Rev. 2018;(4):33-40. Accessed July 6, 2020. <a href="http://fitpublishing.com/articles/reducing-bias-shift-demand-model-reforming-youth-sports-america">http://fitpublishing.com/articles/reducing-bias-shift-demand-model-reforming-youth-sports-america</a>
- **76.** Visek AJ, Achrati SM, Mannix HM, McDonnell K, Harris BS, DiPietro L. The fun integration theory: toward sustaining children and adolescents sport participation. *J Phys Act Health*. 2015;12(3):424-433. doi:10.1123/jpah.2013-0180
- 77. Bowers MT, Hunt TM. The president's council on physical fitness and the systematisation of children's play in America. *Int J Hist Sport*. 2011;28(11):1496-1511. doi:10.1080/09523367.2011.586789
- **78.** Jayanthi NA, Labella CR, Fischer D, Pasulka J, Dugas LR. Sports-specialized intensive training and the risk of injury in young athletes: a clinical case-control study. *Am J Sports Med*. 2015;43(4):794-801. doi:10.1177/0363546514567298
- **79.** Jayanthi N, Kleithermes S, Council on Sports Medicine and Fitness, et al. Risk of injuries associated with sport specialization and intense training patterns in young athletes: a longitudinal clinical case-control study. *Orthop J Sports Med.* 2020;8(6):232596712092276. doi:10.1177/2325967120922764
- **80.** Bowers MT, Green BC. Reconstructing the community-based youth sport experience: how children derive meaning from unstructured and organized settings. *J Sport Manage*. 2013;27(6):422-438. doi:10.1123/jsm.27.6.422
- **81.** Bowers MT, Green BC, Hemme F, Chalip L. Assessing the relationship between youth sport participation settings and creativity in adulthood. *Creat Res J.* 2014;26(3):314-327. doi:10.1080/10400419.2014.929420
- **82.** Faigenbaum A, Lloyd R, Oliver J. Essentials of Youth Fitness. Human Kinetics, Inc; 2020.
- **83.** Goodway JD, Robinson LE. Developmental trajectories in early sport specialization: a case for early sampling from a physical growth and motor development perspective. *Kinesiol Rev.* 2015;4(3):267-278. doi:10.1123/kr.2015-0028
- **84.** DiFiori JP, Brenner JS, Comstock D, et al. Debunking early single sport specialisation and reshaping the youth sport experience: an NBA perspective. *Br J Sports Med*. 2017;51(3):142-143. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2016-097170

- **85.** García-Hermoso A, Alonso-Martínez AM, Ramírez-Vélez R, Pérez-Sousa MÁ, Ramírez-Campillo R, Izquierdo M. Association of physical education with improvement of health-related physical fitness outcomes and fundamental motor skills among youths: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *JAMA Pediatr*. 2020;174(6). doi:10.1001/jamapediatrics.2020.0223
- **86.** Loprinzi PD, Davis RE, Fu YC. Early motor skill competence as a mediator of child and adult physical activity. *Prev Med Rep.* 2015;2:833-838. doi:10.1016/j.pmedr.2015.09.015
- **87.** Loprinzi PD, Cardinal BJ, Cardinal MK, Corbin CB. Physical education and sport: does participation relate to physical activity patterns, observed fitness, and personal attitudes and beliefs? *Am J Health Promot*. 2018;32(3):613-620. doi:10.1177/0890117117698088
- **88.** Waldron S, DeFreese JD, Register-Mihalik J, Pietrosimone B, Barczak N. The costs and benefits of early sport specialization: a critical review of literature. *Quest*. 2020;72(1):1-18. doi:10.1080/00336297.2019.1580205
- **89.** Bergeron MF, Mountjoy M, Armstrong N, et al. International Olympic Committee consensus statement on youth athletic development. *Br J Sports Med*. 2015;49(13):843-851. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2015-094962
- **90.** Brenner JS, LaBella CR, Council on Sports Medicine and Fitness, et al. Sports specialization and intensive training in young athletes. *Pediatrics*. 2016;138(3). doi:10.1542/peds.2016-2148
- **91.** DiFiori JP, Benjamin HJ, Brenner JS, et al. Overuse injuries and burnout in youth sports: a position statement from the American Medical Society for Sports Medicine. *Br J Sports Med.* 2014;48(4):287-288. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2013-093299
- **92.** LaPrade RF, Agel J, Baker J, et al. AOSSM early sport specialization consensus statement. *Orthop J Sports Med*. 2016;4(4). doi:10.1177/2325967116644241
- 93. Veliz P, Sabo D, Cadzow R, et al. Teen Sport in America: Why Participation Matters. Women's Sports Foundation. Accessed July 10, 2020. <a href="https://www.WomensSportsFoundation.org">https://www.WomensSportsFoundation.org</a>
- **94.** Aspen Institute, Project Play. Sport for All, Play for Life: A Playbook to Get Every Kid in the Game; 2015. Accessed July 7, 2020. <a href="https://www.aspenprojectplay.org/reports">https://www.aspenprojectplay.org/reports</a>
- **95.** Baker J, Schorer J, Wattie N. Compromising talent: issues in identifying and selecting talent in sport. *Quest*. 2018;70(1):48-63. doi:10.1080/00336297.2017.1333438
- 96. Kliethermes SA, Nagle K, Côté J, et al. Impact of youth sports specialisation on career and task-specific athletic performance: a systematic review following the American Medical Society for Sports Medicine (AMSSM) Collaborative Research Network's 2019 Youth Early Sport Specialisation Summit. Br J Sports Med. 2020;54(4):221-230. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2019-101365
- **97.** O'Neill JR, Williams HG, Pfeiffer KA, et al. Young children's motor skill performance: relationships with activity types and parent perception of athletic competence. *J Sci Med Sport*. 2014;17(6):607-610. doi:10.1016/j.jsams.2013.10.253
- **98.** Corbin CB. Implications of physical literacy for research and practice: a commentary. Res Q Exerc Sport. 2016;87(1):14-27. doi:10.1080/02701367.2016.1124722

- **99.** Durden-Myers EJ, Meloche ES, Dhillon KK. The embodied nature of physical literacy: interconnectedness of lived experience and meaning. *J Phys Educ Recreat Danc*. 2020;91(3):8-16. doi:10.1080/07303084.2019.1705213
- 100. Clark JE. Pentimento: a 21st century view on the canvas of motor development. Kinesiol Rev. 2017;6(3):232-239. doi:10.1123/kr.2017-0020
- 101. Robinson LE, Stodden DF, Barnett LM, et al. Motor competence and its effect on positive developmental trajectories of health. Sports Med. 2015;45(9):1273-1284. doi:10.1007/s40279-015-0351-6
- **102.** Larouche R, Laurencelle L, Shephard R, Trudeau F. Daily physical education in primary school and physical activity in midlife: the trois-rivières study. *J Sports Med Phys Fitness*. 2015;(55):527-534. Accessed July 7, 2020. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/26068327/
- **103.** Loprinzi PD, Cardinal BJ, Loprinzi KL, Lee H. Benefits and environmental determinants of physical activity in children and adolescents. *Obes Facts*. 2012;5(4):597-610. doi:10.1159/000342684
- 104. Colorado School for Public Health. High School RIO™:
  Reporting Information Online. Accessed July 31, 2020.
  <a href="https://coloradosph.cuanschutz.edu/research-and-practice/centers-programs/piper/research-practice/research-projects">https://coloradosph.cuanschutz.edu/research-and-practice/centers-programs/piper/research-practice/research-projects</a>
- **105.** LaBella C, Mjaanes JM, Council on Sports Medicine and Fitness, et al. Cheerleading injuries: epidemiology and recommendations for prevention. *Pediatrics*. 2012;130(5):966-971. doi:10.1542/peds.2012-2480
- **106.** Rice SG, Congeni JA. Baseball and softball. *Pediatrics*. 2012;129(3):e842-e856. doi:10.1542/peds.2011-3593
- **107.** Watson A, Mjaanes JM, Council on Sports Medicine and Fitness, et al. Soccer injuries in children and adolescents. *Pediatrics*. 2019;144(5). doi:10.1542/peds.2019-2759
- **108.** Brooks A, Brenner JS, Council on Sports Medicine and Fitness, et al. Reducing injury risk from body checking in boys' youth ice hockey. *Pediatrics*. 2014;133(6):1151-1157. doi:10.1542/peds.2014-0692
- **109.** Meehan W, Landry G, Council on Sports Medicine and Fitness, et al. Tackling in youth football. *Pediatrics*. 2015;136(5):e1419-e1430. doi:10.1542/peds.2015-3282
- 110. Vriend I, Gouttebarge V, Finch CF, van Mechelen W, Verhagen EALM. Intervention strategies used in sport injury prevention studies: a systematic review identifying studies applying the Haddon matrix. Sport Med. 2017;47(10):2027-2043. doi:10.1007/s40279-017-0718-v
- 111. Founders Group. International Safeguards for Children in Sport; 2014. Accessed July 6, 2020. <a href="https://www.sportanddev.org/sites/default/files/downloads/international-safeguards-for-children-in-sport-version-to-view-online.pdf">https://www.sportanddev.org/sites/default/files/downloads/international-safeguards-for-children-in-sport-version-to-view-online.pdf</a>
- 112. Bernhardt D, Roberts W. Pre-Participation Physical Evaluation Monograph (PPE). Newsl Am Acad Pediatr; 5<sup>th</sup> Edition; 2019.
- **113.** Johnson ST, Norcross MF, Bovbjerg VE, Hoffman MA, Chang E, Koester MC. Sports-related emergency preparedness in Oregon high schools. *Sports Health*. 2017;9(2):181-184. doi:10.1177/1941738116686782

- 114. Kroshus E, Rivara FP, Whitlock KB, Herring SA, Chrisman SPD. Disparities in athletic trainer staffing in secondary school sport: implications for concussion identification. Clin J Sport Med. 2017;27(6). doi:10.1097/JSM.00000000000000409
- 115. Pierpoint LA, LaBella CR, Collins CL, Fields SK, Dawn Comstock R. Injuries in girls' soccer and basketball: a comparison of high schools with and without athletic trainers. *Inj Epidemiol*. 2018;5(1). doi:10.1186/s40621-018-0159-6
- **116.** Casa DJ, Almquist J, Anderson SA, et al. The interassociation task force for preventing sudden death in secondary school athletics programs: best-practices recommendations. *J Athl Train*. 2013;48(4):546-553. doi:10.4085/1062-6050-48.4.12
- 117. Garritano NF, Willmarth-Stec M. Student athletes, sudden cardiac death, and lifesaving legislation: a review of the literature. *J Pediatr Health Care*. 2015;29(3):233-242. doi:10.1016/j.pedhc.2014.11.006
- **118.** Bergeron M, Devore C, Council on Sports Medicine and Fitness, et al. Policy statement—climatic heat stress and exercising children and adolescents. *Pediatrics*. 2011;128(3):e741-e747. doi:10.1542/peds.2011-1664
- 119. Jeckell AS, Copenhaver EA, Diamond AB. The Spectrum of Hazing and Peer Sexual Abuse in Sports: A Current Perspective. Vol 10. SAGE Publications Inc. 2018;558-564. doi:10.1177/1941738118797322
- **120.** Koontz JS, Mountjoy M, Abbott KE, et al. Sexual violence in sport: American Medical Society for Sports Medicine position statement. *Sports Health*. 2020;12(4). doi:10.1177/1941738120929946
- **121.** Mountjoy M, Rhind JAD, Tiivas A, Leglise M. Safeguarding the child athlete in sport: a review, a framework and recommendations for the IOC youth athlete development model. *Br J Sports Med*. 2015;49(13):883-886. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2015-094619
- **122.** Mountjoy M, Brackenridge C, Arrington M, et al. International Olympic Committee consensus statement: harassment and abuse (non-accidental violence) in sport. *Br J Sports Med.* 2016;50(17):1019-1029. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2016-096121
- 123. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Injury Prevention and Control. HEADS UP. Accessed July 6, 2020. https://www.cdc.gov/headsup/index.html
- **124.** Halstead ME, Walter KD, Moffatt K. Sport-related concussion in children and adolescents. *Pediatrics*. 2018;142(6). doi:10.1542/peds.2018-3074
- **125.** Harmon KG, Clugston JR, Dec K, et al. American Medical Society for Sports Medicine position statement on concussion in sport. *Br J Sports Med.* 2019;53(4):213-225. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2018-100338
- **126.** McCrory P, Meeuwisse W, Dvořák J, et al. Consensus statement on concussion in sport—the 5<sup>th</sup> international conference on concussion in sport held in Berlin, October 2016. Br J Sports Med. 2017;51(11):838-847. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2017-097699
- **127.** Carl RL, Johnson MD, Martin TJ, et al. Promotion of healthy weight-control practices in young athletes. *Pediatrics*. 2017;140(3):20171871. doi:10.1542/peds.2017-1871

- **128.** Weiss Kelly AK, Hecht S. The female athlete triad Clinical Report guidance for the clinician in rendering pediatric care. *Newsl Am Acad Pediatr*. 2016;138(2). doi:10.1542/peds.2016-0922
- **129.** El Ghoch M, Soave F, Calugi S, Dalle Grave R. Eating disorders, physical fitness and sport performance: a systematic review. *Nutrients*. 2013;5(12):5140-5160. doi:10.3390/nu5125140
- **130.** Knatz S, Braden A, Boutelle KN. Parent coaching model for adolescents with emotional eating. *Eat Disord*. 2015;23(4):377-386. doi:10.1080/10640266.2015.1044352
- **131.** LaBella CR, Hennrikus W, Council on Sports Medicine and Fitness, et al. Anterior cruciate ligament injuries: diagnosis, treatment, and prevention. *Pediatrics*. 2014;133(5):e1437-e1450. doi:10.1542/peds.2014-0623
- **132.** Webster KE, Hewett TE. Meta-analysis of meta-analyses of anterior cruciate ligament injury reduction training programs. *J Orthop Res.* 2018;36:2696-2708. doi:10.1002/jor.24043
- 133. Smith AM, Gaz D V, Larson D, et al. Does fair play reduce concussions? A prospective, comparative analysis of competitive youth hockey tournaments. BMJ Open Sport Exerc Med. 2016;2(1):e000074. doi:10.1136/bmjsem-2015-000074
- **134.** Smith AL, Pacewicz CE, Raedeke TD. Athlete burnout in competitive sport. In: Advances in Sport and Exercise Psychology. 4th Edition. Human Kinetics; 2019:409-424.
- **135.** Dorsch TE, King MQ, Dunn CR, Osai K V., Tulane S. The impact of evidence-based parent education in organized youth sport: a pilot study. *J Appl Sport Psychol*. 2017;29(2):199-214. doi:10.1080/10413200.2016.1194909
- **136.** Lawrason S, Turnnidge J, Martin LJ, Côté J. A transformational coaching workshop for changing youth sport coaches' behaviors: a pilot intervention study. *Sport Psychol.* 2019;33(4):304-312. doi:10.1123/tsp.2018-0172
- **137.** Thrower SN, Harwood CG, Spray CM. Educating and supporting tennis parents using web-based delivery methods: a novel online education program. *J Appl Sport Psychol.* 2019;31(3):303-323. doi:10.1080/10413200.2018.1433250
- **138.** Turnnidge J, Côté J. Transformational coaching workshop: applying a person-centred approach to coach development programs. *Int Sport Coach J.* 2017;4:314-325. doi:10.1123/iscj.2017-0046
- **139.** Vella S, Crowe T, Oades L. Increasing the effectiveness of formal coach education: evidence of a parallel process. *Int J Sports Sci Coach*. 2013;8(2):417-430. doi:10.1260/1747-9541.8.2.417
- 140. O'Rourke DJ, Smith RE, Smoll FL, Cumming SP. Relations of parent- and coach-initiated motivational climates to young athletes' self-esteem, performance anxiety, and autonomous motivation: who is more influential? *J Appl Sport Psychol*. 2014;26(4):395-408. doi:10.1080/10413200.2014.907838
- **141.** Petitpas A, Van Raalte J, France T. Facilitating positive youth development by fostering collaboration among community-based sport and physical activity programs. *Sport Psychol.* 2017;31(3):308-314. doi:10.1123/tsp.2016-0031

- **142.** Camiré M, Forneris T, Trudel P, Bernard D. Strategies for helping coaches facilitate positive youth development through sport. *J Sport Psychol Action*. 2011;2(2):92-99. doi:10.1080/21520704.2011.584246
- **143.** Fry MD, Gano-Overway LA. Exploring the contribution of the caring climate to the youth sport experience. *J Appl Sport Psychol*. 2010;22(3):294-304. doi:10.1080/10413201003776352
- 144. Harwood CG, Caglar E, Thrower SN, Smith JMJ. Development and validation of the parent-initiated motivational climate in individual sport competition questionnaire. Front Psychol. 2019;10(FEB). doi:10.3389/fpsyq.2019.00128
- **145.** Kahneman D. *Thinking, Fast and Slow.* Farrar, Straus and Giroux; 2011.
- 146. Gregory S. How Kids' Sports Became a \$15 Billion Industry. Time; 2017. Accessed August 4, 2020. <a href="https://time.com/4913687/how-kids-sports-became-15-billion-industry/">https://time.com/4913687/how-kids-sports-became-15-billion-industry/</a>.
- **147.** Copenhaver EA, Diamond AB. The value of sleep on athletic performance, injury, and recovery in the young athlete. *Pediatr Ann*. 2017;46(3):e106-e111. doi:10.3928/19382359-20170221-01
- 148. Kavouras SA, Arnaoutis G, Makrillos M, et al. Educational intervention on water intake improves hydration status and enhances exercise performance in athletic youth. Scand J Med Sci Sports. 2012;22(5):684-689. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0838.2011.01296.x
- **149.** Pfeiffer KA, Wierenga MJ. Promoting physical activity through youth sport. *Kinesiol Rev.* 2019;8(3):204-210. doi:10.1123/kr.2019-0033
- **150.** U.S. Department of Health and Human Services and U.S. Department of Agriculture. 2015-2020 Dietary Guidelines for Americans. 8<sup>th</sup> Edition; 2015.
- **151.** Yee AZH, Lwin MO, Ho SS. The influence of parental practices on child promotive and preventive food consumption behaviors: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act*. 2017;14(1). doi:10.1186/s12966-017-0501-3
- **152.** Gearity BJ. Intersectionality, microagressions, and microaffirmations: toward a cultural praxis of sport coaching. *Sociol Sport J.* 2017;(34):160-175. doi:10.1123/ssj.2016-0113
- **153.** Pont SJ, Puhl R, Cook SR, et al. Stigma experienced by children and adolescents with obesity. *Pediatrics*. 2017;140(6). doi:10.1542/peds.2017-3034
- **154.** Puhl R, Suh Y. Health consequences of weight stigma: implications for obesity prevention and treatment. *Curr Obes Rep.* 2015;4(2):182-190. doi:10.1007/s13679-015-0153-z
- **155.** Furley P, Memmert D. Coaches' implicit associations between size and giftedness: implications for the relative age effect. *J Sports Sci.* 2016;34(5):459-466. doi:10.1080/02640414.2015.1061198
- **156.** Harrison L, Bimper AY, Smith MP, Logan AD. The miseducation of the African American student-athlete. *Kinesiol Rev.* 2017;6(1):60-69. doi:10.1123/kr.2016-0039
- **157.** Merkel D. Youth sport: positive and negative impact on young athletes. *Open Access J Sports Med.* 2013;4:151. doi:10.2147/ogjsm.s33556

- **158.** Trussell DE, Kovac L, Apgar J. LGBTQ parents' experiences of community youth sport: change your forms, change your (hetero) norms. *Sport Manage Rev.* 2018;21(1):51-62. doi:10.1016/j.smr.2017.03.003
- **159.** Vargas-Tonsing TM, Flores M, Beyer R. Volunteer youth sport coaches' efficacy beliefs for working with athletes with ADHD. *J Coach Educ*. 2016;1(2):64-79. doi:10.1123/jce.1.2.64
- **160.** Rukavina P, Doolittle S, Li W, Beale-Tawfeeq A, Manson M. Teachers' perspectives on creating an inclusive climate in middle school physical education for overweight students. *J Sch Health*. 2019;89(6):476-484. doi:10.1111/josh.12760
- **161.** Lydecker JA, O'Brien E, Grilo CM. Parents have both implicit and explicit biases against children with obesity. *J Behav Med.* 2018;41(6):784-791. doi:10.1007/s10865-018-9929-4
- **162.** Panza GA, Armstrong LE, Taylor BA, Puhl RM, Livingston J, Pescatello LS. Weight bias among exercise and nutrition professionals: a systematic review. *Obes Rev.* 2018;19(11):1492-1503. doi:10.1111/obr.12743
- 163. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Health Resources & Services Administration. Cultural Competence. Accessed August 4, 2020. <a href="https://mchb.hrsa.gov/training/cultural-competence.asp">https://mchb.hrsa.gov/training/cultural-competence.asp</a>
- **164.** Cardinal BJ, Whitney AR, Narimatsu M, Hubert N, Souza BJ. Obesity bias in the gym: an under-recognized social justice, diversity, and inclusivity issue. *J Phys Educ Recreat Danc*. 2014;85(6):3-6. doi:10.1080/07303084.2014.927668
- **165.** Paruthi S, Brooks LJ, D'Ambrosio C, et al. Consensus statement of the American Academy of Sleep Medicine on the recommended amount of sleep for healthy children: methodology and discussion. *J Clin Sleep Med*. 2016;12(11):1549-1561. doi:10.5664/jcsm.6288
- **166.** Vitale KC, Owens R, Hopkins SR, Malhotra A. Sleep hygiene for optimizing recovery in athletes: review and recommendations. *Int J Sports Med.* 2019;40(8):535-543. doi:10.1055/a-0905-3103
- **167.** Allen JB. Social motivation in youth sport. J Sport Exerc Psychol. 2003;25(4):551-567. doi:10.1123/jsep.25.4.551
- **168.** Danioni F, Barni D, Rosnati R. Transmitting sport values: the importance of parental involvement in children's sport activity. *Eur J Psychol*. 2017;13(1):75-92. doi:10.5964/ejop.v13i1.1265
- 169. Hodge K, Lonsdale C. Prosocial and antisocial behavior in sport: the role of coaching style, autonomous vs. controlled motivation, and moral disengagement. J Sport Exerc Psychol. 2011;33(4):527-547. doi:10.1123/jsep.33.4.527
- 170. Holt NL, Neely KC, Slater LG, et al. A grounded theory of positive youth development through sport based on results from a qualitative meta-study. Int Rev Sport Exerc Psychol. 2017;10(1):1-49. doi:10.1080/1750984X.2016.1180704
- **171.** Sage G, Eitzen D, Beal B. Sociology of North American Sport. 11<sup>th</sup> Edition. Oxford University Press; 2018.
- 172. Craigie AM, Lake AA, Kelly SA, Adamson AJ, Mathers JC. Tracking of obesity-related behaviours from childhood to adulthood: a systematic review. *Maturitas*. 2011;70(3):266-284. doi:10.1016/j.maturitas.2011.08.005

- 173. United States Olympic Committee. American Development Model; 2014. Accessed August 4, 2020. <a href="https://www.teamusa.org/About-the-USOPC/Coaching-Education/American-Development-Model">https://www.teamusa.org/About-the-USOPC/Coaching-Education/American-Development-Model</a>
- **174.** McCarthy PJ, Jones M V., Clark-Carter D. Understanding enjoyment in youth sport: a developmental perspective. *Psychol Sport Exerc.* 2008;9(2):142-156. doi:10.1016/j.psychsport.2007.01.005
- **175.** Cairney J, Bulten R, King-Dowling S, Arbour-Nicitopoulos K. A longitudinal study of the effect of organized physical activity on free active play. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*. 2018;50(9):1772-1779. doi:10.1249/MSS.000000000001633
- **176.** DiStefano LJ, Beltz EM, Root HJ, et al. Sport sampling is associated with improved landing technique in youth athletes. *Sports Health*. 2018;10(2):160-168. doi:10.1177/1941738117736056
- 177. Pichardo AW, Oliver JL, Harrison CB, Maulder PS, Lloyd RS, Kandoi R. The influence of maturity offset, strength, and movement competency on motor skill performance in adolescent males. Sports. 2019;7(7):168. doi:10.3390/sports7070168
- **178.** Zwolski C, Quatman-Yates C, Paterno M V. Resistance training in youth: laying the foundation for injury prevention and physical literacy. *Sports Health*. 2017;9(5):436-443. doi:10.1177/1941738117704153
- 179. Bell DR, DiStefano L, Pandya NK, McGuine TA. The public health consequences of sport specialization. *J Athl Train*. 2019;54(10):1013-1020. doi:10.4085/1062-6050-521-18
- **180.** Arede J, Esteves P, Ferreira AP, Sampaio J, Leite N. Jump higher, run faster: effects of diversified sport participation on talent identification and selection in youth basketball. *J Sports Sci.* 2019;37(19):2220-2227. doi:10.1080/02640414.2019.1626114
- **181.** Bracco E, Lodewyk K, Morrison H. A case study of disengaged adolescent girls' experiences with teaching games for understanding in physical education. *Curric Stud Health Phys Educ*. 2019;10(3):207-225. doi:10.1080/25742981.2019.1632724
- **182.** Hellison D. Teaching Personal and Social Responsibility Through Physical Activity. 3<sup>rd</sup> Edition. Human Kinetics; 2011.
- **183.** Siedentop D, Hastie PA, van der Mars H. Complete Guide to Sport Education. 3<sup>rd</sup> Edition. Human Kinetics; 2020.
- **184.** Gouvea M, Cyrino ES, Ribeiro AS, et al. Influence of skeletal maturity on size, function and sport-specific technical skills in youth soccer players. *Int J Sports Med*. 2016;37(6):464-469. doi:10.1055/s-0035-1569370
- 185. Rommers N, Mostaert M, Goossens L, et al. Age and maturity related differences in motor coordination among male elite youth soccer players. J Sports Sci. 2019;37(2):196-203. doi:10.1080/02640414.2018.1488454
- 186. Rottensteiner C, Tolvanen A, Laakso L, Konttinen N. Youth athletes' motivation, perceived competence, and persistence in organized team sports. J Sport Behav. 2015;38(4). Accessed July 7, 2020. <a href="https://www.researchgate.net/publication/299240373">https://www.researchgate.net/publication/299240373</a> Youth Athletes' Motivation Perceived Competence and Persistence in Organized Team Sports

- **187.** Scantlebury S, Till K, Sawczuk T, Weakley J, Jones B. Understanding the relationship between coach and athlete perceptions of training intensity in youth sport. *J Strength Cond Res.* 2018;32(11):3239-3245. doi:10.1519/JSC.000000000002204
- **188.** Purcell R, Gwyther K, Rice SM. Mental health in elite athletes: increased awareness requires an early intervention framework to respond to athlete needs. *Sport Med Open.* 2019;5(1):46. doi:10.1186/s40798-019-0220-1
- **189.** Castelli DM, Centeio EE, Beighle AE, Carson RL, Nicksic HM. Physical literacy and comprehensive school physical activity programs. *Prev Med (Baltim)*. 2014;66:95-100. doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2014.06.007
- **190.** Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. High School Youth Risk Behavior Survey. United States 2017 Results. Published 2017. Accessed July 7, 2020. <a href="https://nccd.cdc.gov/youthonline/App/Results.aspx?LID=XX">https://nccd.cdc.gov/youthonline/App/Results.aspx?LID=XX</a>
- 191. Mallo J, Dellal A. Injury risk in professional football players with special reference to the playing position and training periodization. J Sport Med Phys Fit. 2012;52(6):631-638. Accessed July 7, 2020. <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/23187326/">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/23187326/</a>
- **192.** Kirk D. Educational value and models-based practice in physical education. *Educ Philos Theory*. 2013;45(9):973-986. doi:10.1080/00131857.2013.785352
- 193. Whitehead M. Physical Literacy: Throughout the Lifecourse. Abingdon, Oxon: Routledge; 2010.